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Northern Territory General Practice Education 
(NTGPE) is the Northern Territory’s Australian 
General Practice Training (AGPT) Regional Training 
Provider (RTP); delivering General Practice 
education and training across the NT. 

We have placed a strong focus on attracting the 
best of Australia’s GP Registrars and Prevocational 
Doctors to the NT; as well as encouraging 
undergraduate Medical Students to consider 
General Practice as their preferred career 
pathway. NTGPE work to ensure professional 
development is readily available to General 
Practitioners across the Northern Territory to 
ensure that high quality primary care is accessible 
to all Territorians.

Where We Work 

The GP Registrars, Prevocational Doctors and 
Medical Students we train are placed in urban, 
rural and remote areas across the Northern 
Territory. Our administrative offices are located 
in Darwin at the Charles Darwin University, 
Casuarina Campus and in Alice Springs at the 
National Remote Health Precinct (co-located with 
Northern Territory Medicare Local).

NTGPE Vision 

Driven by the health needs of communities, we 
will train and support doctors throughout the NT 
to become outstanding General Practitioners.

About Us 

NTGPE staff outside the Darwin Office, Charles Darwin University Campus

Emma Carroll, Supervisor and Practice Accreditation Coordinator 
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Goals

1. NTGPE will be the choice Regional Training 
Provider who trains and supports program 
participants in urban, rural and remote locations 
to become competent, and culturally aware 
General Practitioners (GPs) who are capable 
of providing quality health care in health care 
teams throughout Australia. 

2. NTGPE will be the lead Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander health Regional Training Provider 
renowned for providing world class clinical and 
cultural experiences that are supported in a 
manner that leads to reducing the existing gap 
in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people’s 
health outcomes. 

3. NTGPE will be an employer of choice who 
attract and retain the highest calibre employees 
who are renowned for their creativity and 
innovation and who are committed to working 
collaboratively with our partners to create 
capacity that enables increased doctors to train 
in the NT. 

4. NTGPE will be branded as a responsible 
corporate leader through its commitment to 
reconciliation, environmental sustainability, 
transparency, sound governance, collaboration 
and its genuine commitment to continuous 
quality improvement. 

Ashley Farmer, Supervisor and Practice Accreditation 
Support Officer with GP Registrar Dr Deepa Pushpangadan 
and GP Supervisor Dr Colin Marchant 
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This year has been one of consolidation of new 
approaches and further developing NTGPE as 
a national leader in general practice education 
and training. As 2014 closes we approach a year 
of proposed reform which will require close 
observation to ensure no detriment to our GP 
Registrars and the profession.  We were advised in 
the May 2014 Budget that the Federal Government 
intended to ‘rebuild’ general practice training 
nationally and that framework would be negotiated 
in 2015 and due for implementation in 2016. In 
this announcement we were advised that GPET 
would be abolished as of 31 December 2014 and 
that the Prevocational General Practice Placement 
Program (PGPPP) will not continue in 2015. The 
Commonwealth Department of Health (DoH) have 
advised Regional Training Providers (RTPs) that there 
will be no other changes in 2015 and early advice 
suggests that the NT will almost certainly continue 
to have its own training provider beyond 2016. 

The developments and change initiatives 
implemented in 2014 have further contributed 
to our expertise in both the unique health gaps 
and special training circumstances of our region. 
Fortunately, there is some corporate memory in our 
profession linked to the consequences of centralised 
training provision that puts at risk the quality of 

general practice education and training; what 
has decayed has been reinvigorated by our CEOs 
national leadership in raising these issues with the 
DoH and the new Federal Health Minister.

During 2014 all GP Registrars commencing training 
in 2015 have been recruited with the knowledge 
that they are to undergo some of their training in 
remote and/or Aboriginal health settings. As a GP 
Supervisor of GP Registrars, I know firsthand that 
these placements have a positive impact on the 
knowledge and skills of GP Registrars coming to 
work in our practice. As uptake of these placements 
grow we are seeing an improvement in the exam 
pass rates and I suspect they will return to the very 
high pass rates of the past due to the considerable 
clinical experience of our fortunate GP Registrars. 
Some GP Registrars are wary of these placements 
and will need increased support both culturally 
and from a pastoral care perspective. I personally 
consider this to be the very best primary care 
learning experience available in Australia and am 
confident the exam results will show this to be 
the case.

Our increase in GP Registrars is partly due to the 
closure of the wonderful PGPPP and substitution 
of these places by more GP Registrars and the 
increased number of medical graduates. The result 
is that there is a reasonable level of competition for 
GP training in Australia. At the moment virtually all 
GP Registrars complete the program. As competition 
grows with the further increase in graduates, GP 
Registrars may need to work harder to achieve the 
results to support progression and avoid adding to 
capacity constraints. This will align general practice 
with other branches of medical training and may 
need further consideration from the Colleges in the 
near future.

With so many GP Registrars, NTGPE has extended 
the number of training placements; a considerable 
number are training in NT Government clinics with 
good supervision and likewise across the private 
sector where the contribution from small business 
has been remarkable.

Chairperson’s Report
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Our team at NTGPE is thriving and offering 
wonderful support to the GP Registrars, the 
Prevocational Doctors and the John Flynn students. 
The team is led by our extraordinary CEO, Dr Brett 
Dale, who is having a major impact on our future 
by leading the RTPs’ response to the budget 
changes. He has travelled immense distances this 
year and has had to be away a lot. I would like to 
thank those that have taken on more responsibility 
during these times. Dr Tamsin Cockayne has led 
a group developing a new learning platform that 
will aid the GP Registrars’ education, support and 
communication while working in the NT. This will 
be a key resource that will ensure our engagement 
and support to our learners and valued stakeholders 
are optimum in 2015 and beyond. The Board and 
I are confident that GP Registrars have remained 
supported, are learning a lot and are looking forward 
to being highly skilled GPs ready to shape the health 
of Australia. NTGPE plans to continue to train and 
inspire them into the future.

Dr Sam Heard 
Chairperson 
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In 2014 the Federal Government announced that 
the Prevocational General Practice Placement 
Program (PGPPP) would be abolished. The closure 
of the program resulted in a loss of 25 fulltime 
equivalent Prevocational Doctors working in remote 
communities across the Northern Territory. PGPPP 
was a national program that aimed to encourage 
doctors to consider General Practice (particularly in 
rural and remote areas) as their chosen profession. 
For the Northern Territory, the program was also 
integral to the supply and access of primary health 
care for many of Australia’s most disadvantaged.  
Whilst the loss of PGPPP is disappointing, NTGPE 
welcomed the Federal Government’s decision 
to increase the number of GP Registrars training 
nationally from 1200 to 1500. That decision resulted 
in an annual increase of GP Registrars for the NT, 
equivalent to the FTE loss of Prevocational Doctors. 
This increase of GP Registrars ensured the supply of 
doctors to remote Aboriginal communities will not 
drop in 2015. The full impact on the NT’s future GP 
workforce is still unclear with the experience once 
offered to Prevocational Doctors from all States that 
influenced their decision to train and relocate to the 
NT, now lost. 

Despite the many challenges 2014 presented, 
particularly from a national level, our vision 
remained on track. That is, we remain ‘driven 
by the health needs of communities and we 
train and support doctors throughout the NT to 

become outstanding General Practitioners’. With 
this vision, we have been able to help address 
medical workforce mal-distribution. For example, 
we increased the total hours of doctors training in 
Aboriginal communities from approximately 23,000 
hours in 2013 to 51,000 hours in 2014 and with 
the 2015 increase in GP Registrars, we will exceed 
98,000 hours. We are committed to ensuring that 
all doctors are supported to be able to train both 
remotely and in an Indigenous Health Training Post 
across the NT. There is evidence that these training 
experiences have prepared our GP Registrars for 
their excellent exam results, successful Fellowship 
and ultimately their individual contribution to 
‘closing the gap’.

A key focus for 2014 has been to improve NTGPE’s 
client service and pastoral care to GP Registrars. 
We examined how services could be improved in 
order to better support GP Registrars and identified 
that the remote placements require increased 
pastoral care. In response to these findings we 
have invested in a new learning platform known 
as ‘myGPcommunity’. MyGPcommunity aims 
to reduce the need for administrative work and 
allow NTGPE staff and stakeholders more time 
for educational activities. To better support our 
learning communities, we also placed great focus on 
professional development of staff to ensure they 
are meeting the expectations during a period of 
rapid change. 

During 2014 we continued strengthening our 
partnerships with stakeholders from the Northern 
Territory primary health care network. We 
collaborated with organisations such as Northern 
Territory Medicare Local (NTML), Aboriginal Medical 
Services Alliance Northern Territory (AMSANT), 
Flinders Medical School, clinics and communities. 
This collaboration ensured that we were able to 
deliver quality education and training to our GP 
Registrars and improve the support to our training 
posts. With the level of reform that is still unclear 
nationally, it is now more important that the 
Northern Territory primary health care network 
collaborates to ensure that national instability is 
minimised in the NT.

Chief Executive Officer’s Report
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In closing, 2014 witness an unprecedented degree 
of uncertainty for both the GP profession and the 
future of GP training. We saw the abolishment of 
General Practice Education and Training (GPET) as 
at 31 December 2014 and we have heard much 
speculation of what is impending for 2015. This 
uncertainty has been managed exceptionally well 
by our team of dedicated staff who have remained 
committed to ensuring that any change or transition 
has minimal or no effect on our GP Registrars and 
clinics. I take this opportunity to thank the team for 
their outstanding contribution during 2014.

Dr Brett Dale  
Chief Executive Officer 
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Following 2013, our year of significant growth in 
program participants and training post recruitment, 
2014 was a year where we focused on the quality 
of what we deliver at Northern Territory General 
Practice Education (NTGPE). This consisted of a two 
pronged approach – setting up quality improvement 
structures and activities whilst simultaneously 
reviewing the educational content we delivered.

To develop our Quality Improvement structures it 
was clear from feedback that we needed to expand 
our opportunities for GP Supervisor, GP Registrar 
and College consultation in our policy and decision 
making. The following Committees were therefore 
set up, recruited to and held their inaugural 
meetings in 2014: 

• Supervisor Advisory Committee (SAC) – regional 
representation from across the Northern 
Territory;

• Registrar Advisory Committee (RAC) – regional 
representation from across the Northern 
Territory; and  

• Continuous Improvement and Educational 
Governance Committee – ACRRM, RACGP 
and Northern Territory Postgraduate Medical 
Council representation. 

Together with the establishment of a Quality 
Improvement Manager position this set the 
tone for a year where continuous improvement 
and consultation were essential parts of our 
business processes. These committees have been 
instrumental in ensuring we have a more robust 
decision making system and were crucial in the 
lead up to our Bi-College Accreditation review in 
November 2014.

Alongside this our Medical Education staff spent 
significant time mapping and reviewing how 
we have delivered training in the NT. This was 
particularly important to recognise our need to have 
an educational program that used contemporary 
adult learning methods, met GP Registrar and GP 
Supervisor needs and was able to reach our growing 
number of GP Registrars who are increasingly 
dispersed right throughout the NT meeting our 
communities’ health needs. 

Through a process of review, consultation and 
development work with an external organisation 
NTGPE undertook its most robust stocktake of 
educational materials and methods in its 11 years 
and developed a strategic plan of how our education 
delivery could be modernised and adapted to meet 
the huge variety of training needs and styles, the 
necessary dispersion of training locations and the 
Medical Education resources going into 2015. What 
resulted was the development of an educational 
solution based on an online learning environment 
which was named myGPcommunity. This is a key 
step for NTGPE, representing the single largest 
investment in educational content and quality in 
the last 11 years and thanks must go to the Board 
for its commitment to investing in and undertaking 
this important work. At the end of 2014 the Medical 
Education team was busily building the GP Registrar 
component of this new learning environment ready 
for its rollout to our new GP Registrars at the 2015.1 
orientation. In 2015, GP Supervisor and Medical 
Educator communities will also be built to enhance 
the opportunities for peer communication and 
support and education around the role of the GP 
Supervisor and GP Registrar.

Director of Medical and Cultural Education’s Report
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With the end of 2014 came the exciting news that 
we were to be allocated 59 GP Registrars for 2015: 
our largest ever cohort. With this announcement the 
investment in capacity building in 2013 and quality 
improvement processes and educational review 
in 2014 has combined to place us confidently to 
be able to meet this challenge. We look forward 
to working with practices, GP Supervisors and GP 
Registrars to ensure that in expanding the training 
opportunities in the NT further, we are able to 
nurture excellent GP Registrars who continue to 
have outstanding Fellowship results, whilst 
ensuring our local communities are serviced and 
their health needs continue to be better met 
through our program. 

Dr Tamsin Cockayne  
Director of Cultural and Medical Education 
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The Supervisor Liaison Officer (SLO) position oversaw some exciting new 
developments during 2014. 

First was the commencement of our inaugural Supervisor Advisory 
Committee (SAC) which has increased our ability to represent the varied 
and diverse supervisor roles. This group from across the NT has provided 
a think-tank representing regional private and public practice enabling a 
clearer voice for us within the Regional Training Provider (RTP). With General 
Practice Education Training (GPET) folding it remains more important than 
ever to ensure our busy role in the medical education industry is safe 
guarded against adverse decision making. 

Second has been the consultation with NTGPE as they have developed the 
new on-line learning platform that is myGPcommunity. GP Registrars will 
find most of their learning resources here and the site will be increasingly 
useful for GP Supervisors to utilise and gain credible continuing professional 
development this year. 

2015 presents challenges including by far the largest cohort of GP Registrars 
to commence training in NT history, many from interstate. I hope that we 
are ready and well placed to provide this new generation of GPs with the 
most fruitful learning environment possible. Please contact me at any time 
to assist with supervision quandaries that may arise.

Dr Clinton Leahy  
Supervisor Liaison Officer

Supervisor Liaison Officers Report 
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In late 2013 I commenced as the Registrar 
Liaison Officer (RLO). Over the course of 2014 the role 
saw me: 

• Attend mobile visits to Gove and Alice Springs, meeting 
with GP Registrar cohorts and discussing relevant issues;

• Participate and assist with Bi-College Accreditation 
including formal interviews with the NTGPE’s 
Accreditation Team;

• Attend the 2014 General Practice Education Training 
(GPET) Conference, co-facilitating a workshop on 
GP Registrar wellbeing and attending Advisory 
Council meetings;

• Participate in Close the Gap and Wellbeing 
Subcommittees of General Practice Registrars Australia;

• Work with the development group for Future of General 
Practice conference (FGP15) planning;

• Participate in GP Start planning, providing feedback from 
a GP Registrar perspective and further feedback with 
the Registrar Advisory Committee (RAC);

• Chair the RAC meetings in August and November 2014;

• Assist GP Registrars in forming exam study groups;

• Organise practice Objective Structured Clinical 
Examination (OSCE) for the 2014.2 exam cohort;

Registrar Liaison Officers Report
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• Collate feedback from GP Registrars on workshop topics and 
develop workshop program for Alice Springs along with RAC;

• Present exam preparation presentation at GP Registrar 
workshop 2014.2 in Alice Springs;

• Attend and presented at Compass Teaching and Learning 
weekend, Darwin, June 2014;

• Provide regular emails to GP Registrars with relevant 
information, updates on webinars and other learning 
opportunities;

• Assist GP Registrars via email or phone with specific training 
issues; and

• Attend and present at GP Registrar orientations.

In 2014, an emerging trend for GP Registrars was the 
increase in training numbers making the placement process 
more complex and the training pathway more difficult to 
map. Another emerging trend was employers employing GP 
Registrars outside of the National Minimal Terms and Training 
Conditions (most commonly as contractors). 

Many major challenges and issues for GP Registrars in the NT 
revolved around living remotely, with a desire for regular face-
to-face contact with the NTGPE team in Darwin. I expect the 
newly introduced learning system myGPcommunity designed to 
overcome some of these challenges will require further training 
for GP Registrars over 2015.

Nationally, changes announced by the Department of Health 
(DoH) to the delivery of training, saw me working with NTGPE 
to support GP Registrars through this transition period as 
smoothly as possible, and I expect this to continue over 2015. 

For 2015, I plan to continue my role as RLO focusing on GP 
Registrar workshop planning, support the RAC, present at the 
Royal Australian College for General Practice (RACGP) Applied 
Knowledge Test (AKT) and Key Feature Problems (KFP) exam 
webinar for General Practice Registrars Australia (GPRA) and 
work with to improve the placement process for 2015. I will 
also be attending the FGP15 conference and Advisory Council 
meetings in April.

Dr Sophie Lines  
Registrar Liaison Officer
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The year at a glance

Working Well Resources launched for Aboriginal Medical Service posts

Working Well is a set of interactive and flexible online training modules that can be accessed 
at any stage of GP Registrars training, particularly before and during their placement. The initial 
concept of this resource was developed last year by a GP Registrar on an Aboriginal Medical Service 
(AMS) post. 

Since 2012 all NT GP Registrars have undertaken an Aboriginal Health Training Post. This strategy has 
enabled GP Registrars the ability to fully experience and contribute to the diverse breadth of medicine 
in the NT.

This project has been funded by NTGPE with assistance from Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance Northern 
Territory (AMSANT) and the Danila Dilba Health Service (DDHS).

View them at http://www.ntgpe.org/workingwell/

Announcement of increased GP Registrar intake for 2015 

NTGPE have almost doubled our cohort from 32 new GP Registrars in 2014 to 59 new GP 
Registrars in 2015. In 2015, there will be approximately 150 GP Registrars in training across 
the NT.

2015 will be another busy year, with change nationally; however we have never been more committed to 
GP Registrar training in the NT.

We continue to increase the hours spent by doctors in communities of most need. NTGPE increased the total 
hours of doctors working in Aboriginal communities from approximately 23,000 in 2013 to 51,000 in 2014. 
For 2015, with an increase in GP Registrars, we forecast a further increase of 98,000 hours.

Sarah Bock, Garry Lambert, Leeanne Pena, John Paterson and Natasha Pavlin launching the Working Well Resource at the ‘Our Health Our Way 
Conference’ in Alice Springs, November 2014



Partnership to increase 
Aboriginal Health 
Workers in remote 
Northern Territory 
communities

In April 2014, NTGPE commenced 
a partnership with Central 
Australia Remote Health 
Development Services (CARHDS) in 
an effort to sustain communities 
by training Aboriginal Health 
Workers (AHW) and Aboriginal 
Health Practitioners (AHP). The 
partnership aims to increase AHWs 
and AHPs benefiting Northern 
Territory rural and remote community 
clinics and health centres.

We have worked with CARHDS to help 
support the development and growth 
of AHW/AHP with the aim to improve 
the status and significance of their 
role in health care. The partnership 
will continue to ensure the services 
provided are appropriate to the 
community and Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people continue to 
receive health care that is respectful 
to their cultural protocols and values.

The partnership aims to promote 
better relationships between health 
professionals working in remote 
clinics and health centres. For 
example, trained AHW/AHPs can 
enhance doctors’ education in regards 
to respecting culture and AHW/
AHPs working from a ‘two-world 
perspective’ and can achieve better 
health and economic outcomes for 
their communities. 

Reconciliation Action Plan receives 
endorsement by Reconciliation Australia  

The NTGPE Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 2014-2015, 
which sets out a pathway to improve relationships 
between staff and program participants and foster 
respect for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 
was endorsed by Reconciliation Australia. 

The document is a testament of NTGPE’s reconciliation 
achievements to date and a written commitment to 
continued reconciliation action and initiatives for the future.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the NTGPE RAP 
Working Committee (RWC) for leading the development of 
the plan, and to thank Reconciliation Australia for working 
with the Committee.  

Northern Territory doctors receive stellar 
exam results

The Northern Territory received a boost of locally 
trained General Practitioners in 2014, with an exam 
success of 93%. 

The successful GP Registrars had spent the last two years or 
more training in the Northern Territory, including in remote 
placements experiencing and being exposed to the full 
breadth of medicine and culture.

NTGPE are absolutely delighted with the results. We believe 
that the doctors in the Territory have great exposure to a 
wide range of medicine with challenging opportunities in a 
well-supported environment.

GP Registrars attend the 2014 Compass Teaching and Learning Conference 
Gala Dinner
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Another successful Compass Teaching and Learning Conference 

The Compass Teaching and Learning Conference is continuing a collaboration between the Northern Territory 
Medicare Local (NTML) and NTGPE that provides professional development and networking opportunities for 
NT GPs and primary health care practitioners.

More than 120 General Practitioners and GP Registrars from across the Northern Territory attended the 
2014 Conference. 

The 2014 Conference included a mock emergency scenario involving multiple ‘casualties’ and provided 
general practitioners from across the NT with a realistic, high-pressure opportunity to hone vital skills. 
Also participating in the full scale, time critical, multi-casualty scenario were St John Ambulance Northern 
Territory and the Northern Territory Emergency Service.

Development of a new 
learning platform for 
those involved in GP 
Registrar Training 

In 2014, development was 
undertaken to introduce 
myGPcommunity for 2015. This 
is an accessible online system 
for all those involved in GP 
Registrar Training in the NT. 

MyGPcommunity supports 
individual learning journeys; 
sustains NTGPE’s commitment 
to individual’s well-being; 
encourages sharing and promotes 
a sense of belonging; and keeps 
the ‘community’ focus firmly at 
the core of everything we do.

Closure of Prevocational General Practice 
Placement Program  

2014 saw the announcement of the closure of Federal 
funding for the Prevocational General Practice Placement 
Program (PGPPP). Closure of the program resulted in a loss 
of 25 fulltime equivalent Prevocational Doctors working in 
remote communities at any time in the NT.

The PGPPP was a national program aiming to encourage doctors 
to consider General Practice (particularly rural and remote) as their 
chosen profession. For the NT, the program was also integral to the 
supply and access of primary health care for many of Australia’s 
most disadvantaged.

PGPPP Dr Vichai Chu who completed a FIFO placement in the Top End pictured with 
community members 

GP Registrars and Medical Students participating in the 
Compass Teaching and Learning Conference 2014 mock 
emergency scenario

myGPcommunity was launched at the 
beginning of 2015 
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Some of the key Strategies and Initiatives for 
2014 included: 

NACHHO State and Territory 
Affiliate Role 

The National Aboriginal Community Controlled 
Health Organisation (NACHHO) State and Territory 
Affiliate Role has been crucial in ensuring 
communications between Aboriginal Medical 
Services Alliance Northern Territory (AMSANT) and 
NTGPE have improved and has been instrumental 
in our delivery of our 2013 plan and remained 
vital for 2014. The Liaison Officer works .5FTE 
within each organisation and represents AMSANT 
to NTGPE on all issues relating to Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander peoples. The role reports 
directly to both CEOs to ensure the highest level 
of collaboration is supported. During 2014 the role 
facilitated the support and needs of AMSANT to 
NTGPE and communicated training opportunities to 
the community controlled sector in the Northern 
Territory.

Team Supervision Training 

This strategy will provide high level supervision 
for doctors placed with multidisciplinary remote 
Indigenous health service providers. This is a team 
based training approach and a pilot has been 
approved by the Royal Australian College of General 
Practitioners (RACGP).

Cultural Educators and Mentors 
Peers Education Support 

Peer support is vital for the strengthening of the 
current national Cultural Education and Cultural 
Mentor network. In 2014 the funding for this 
strategy allowed all our Cultural Workers to attend 
workshops where the senior members played 
leadership roles and the junior team members 
developed new professional linkages.

Development of Indigenous Health 
Training Modules for GP Registrars 

This strategy supported the development of a set 

of NTGPE Indigenous Health Training (IHT) modules, 

which support structured learning of a GP Registrar 

going into an IHT site at any stage of their training. 

Based on current GP Start modules formats, 

this resource has been shared nationally for GP 

Registrars.

Bush Tucker/Traditional Healing 
Workshop/Modules 

Feedback from teleconferences and External Clinical 

Teaching Visits (ECTVs) to Cultural Educators (CEs) 

suggests that GP Registrars and PGPPPs express 

frustration around the topic of compliance with 

medications. Those experienced in Aboriginal 

Health Care develop an understanding of the role of 

traditional Healing and Bush Medicine. This strategy 

aimed to further develop a module on the role of 

Traditional Healing in holistic provision of health care 

for GP Registrars.  

Word of the Week and basic 
Northern Territory language 
primers 

Language barrier is a recurring theme in program 

participants’ feedback. Communication difficulties 

are perceived as an aspect undermining trust 

and relationship between patients and doctors 

and participants are eager to learn some words 

appropriate to their role prior to their placement. 

This strategy enhanced basic language skills across 

the range of stakeholders – staff, GP Registrars 

and GP Supervisors and has been shared through 

CommDoc nationally.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Training 
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Alyangula Health Centre (Groote 
Eylandt) GP Registrar/ GP 
Supervisor accommodation 
modification 

This strategy provided funding to support an 
extension to the current accommodation to create 
capacity for additional GP Registrars. During 2014 it 
increased accommodation capacity for both PGPPPs 
and GP Registrars and will continue to support 
increased GP Registrar placements in 2015 onwards.

Cultural Mentoring Program

It is recognised that Cultural Mentoring is crucial 
to culturally appropriate training in Aboriginal 
communities. In 2013 NTGPE funded a collaborative 
program with Ground Up research to work with 
the Galiwink’u community to develop a pilot for 
implementation in 2014. The success of the pilot 
will now lead to the implementation of a further 
two communities participating in the formal cultural 
mentoring program in 2015. 

AMSANT/NTGPE Leadership Program 

The AMSANT/NTGPE Leadership Program aims to 
instil confidence and leadership competence amongst 
the primary health care team to support improved 
collaboration and team cohesiveness in culturally 
sensitive environments. The program supported all 
Aboriginal Medical Services (AMSs) both community 
controlled and government lead.

Interactive Training Post Map Wall 

Our program participants train in a range of sites 
across the whole of the Northern Territory. When 
contacting Indigenous Health Training (IHT) clinics 
and program participants it is vital that program 
staff track remote community placements issues/
challenges that need to be monitored. This 
strategy will better track remote community 
placements. The map will be available in both 
NTGPE offices to allow sharing of information 
important to each Indigenous Health Training 
(IHT) post.

Cultural Immersion Camps for 
GP Registrars 

Cultural Immersion has been shown to greatly 
enhance the understanding of culture and the ability 
to deliver high quality health care to Aboriginal 
communities. NTGPE has provided camps for GP 
Registrars to increase their skills in culture by 
experiencing Aboriginal culture.

Executive Manager Support Services works with 
Tarntipi Homelands Traditional Owner Mr Edward 
“Teddy” Portaminni in preparation of the 2014 
Cultural Immersion Camps
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Creating capacity for GP Registrars 
and GP Supervisors

NTGPE engaged community contractors to supply 
services necessary to improve the existing facility. 
This supported onsite supervision and training 
throughout the year.

Incentives to entice GP 
Registrars to fill priority Aboriginal 
Medical Service training posts 

Due to the remoteness of these locations many of 
the GP Registrar’s partners were unable to work, 
resulting in financial disincentives for families to 
relocate putting GP Registrars under more stress 
due to the separation. Under this strategy 
we provided an additional four funded 
trips to either Alice Springs or Darwin 
which was able to be used by the GP 
Registrar or a family member.

Cyclone Protection 
Kits for Aboriginal 
Medical Service 
GP Registrars

This strategy provided each 
of the rental properties that 
have been acquired to support 
increased training in remote 
communities with a Cyclone Kit. 
The overall objective improved safety 
for all program participants who are 
working remotely.
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In 2014 we continued to place GP Registrars 
in a variety of locations, ranging from urban 
mainstream general practices to remote Aboriginal 
community clinics and regional hospitals. This 
allows GP Registrars to take up the many excellent 
opportunities for training in Aboriginal health and 
understand the complexities and interaction of 
individual care with a population health approach. 

We continue to incorporate a range of 
complementary learning activities such as 
orientation and induction activities, bi-annual 
workshops, fortnightly Small Group Learning (SGL) 
sessions, External Clinical Teaching Visits (ECTVs), 
and Training Advisor (TA) mentoring where learning 
plans are developed and reviewed.

GP Registrar Training Program 

GP Registrar numbers 2014 training year
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Nhulunbuy: 11

Darwin: 53
East 

Arnhem: 3

Katherine: 13

Barkly: 4

Central Australia: 24

AGPT intake by year
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NTGPE increased the 
total hours of doctors 
working in Aboriginal 

communities from 
approximately 
23,000 in 2013 

to 51,000 
in 2014.
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• Dr. Teem Wing Yip, FACRRM

• Dr. Greer Weaver, FACRRM & FRACGP

• Dr. Michael Krumins, FACRRM

• Dr. Sonjoy Biswas, FRACGP

• Dr. Rahul Tipnis, FRACGP

• Dr. Julian Charles, FRACGP

• Dr. Sarah Brewster, FRAGP

• Dr. Darren Tomlinson, FRACGP

• Dr. Richa Dixit, FRACGP

• Dr. Dauchuan Guo, FRACGP

• Dr. Christopher Gilbert, FRACGP

• Dr. Vidhya Sanjeevi, FRACGP

• Dr. Katherine Kalloniatis, FRACGP

• Dr. Hang Murphy, FRACGP

Congratulations to the following GP Registrars on your Fellowship

GP Supervisor Dr Colin Marchant partaking in one on one 
teaching with GP Registrar Dr Deepa Pushpangadan 
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NTGPE Scholarship Recipients

The NTGPE winners of the Debbie Stach 
Scholarship for Leadership, Alan Walker 
Paediatric Scholarships and the Indigenous 
Health Training Scholarship were 
announced at the Compass Teaching and 
Learning 2014 Gala Dinner on Saturday 
14 June.

The Debbie Stach Scholarship for 
Leadership was awarded to Dr Sophie 
Lines for her excellence and commitment 
to showing leadership and educating 
others.

The three Alan Walker Paediatric 
Scholarships were awarded to Dr Kate 
Henderson, Dr Natasha Robertson and 
Dr Natalia Rode. This scholarship was 
awarded for excellence and commitment 
to working with and improving health 
outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander children, as well as the 
commitment to teaching mothers and 
other carers about child health and 
development.

The Indigenous Health Training Scholarship 
was awarded to Dr Sally Banfield. 
This scholarship awards excellence and 
commitment to Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander health in the Northern 
Territory.

NTGPE would like to thank and 
congratulate all GP Registrars that 
applied for the above scholarships. All 
applications were to an excellent standard 
and were commended by our selection 
panel. In particular NTGPE would like 
to congratulate Dr Jacqueline Boyd and 
Dr Iyngaranathan Selvataram, the two 
finalists of the Indigenous Health Training 
Scholarship.

Prof Fiona Wood, Dr Natalia Rode and Dr Brett Dale, Compass 
Teaching and Learning Conference 2014

Prof Fiona Wood, Dr Sophie Lines and Dr Brett Dale, Compass 
Teaching and Learning Conference 2014

Prof Fiona Wood, Dr Sally Banfield and Dr Brett Dale, Compass 
Teaching and Learning Conference 2014
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The GP Supervisor plays a major role in the direct 
supervision and training of our program participants. 
They act as medical leaders who inspire and support 
our program participants through their training and 
are committed to one-to-one teaching, mentoring, 
direct and remote supervision, support, feedback 
and advice.

In 2014 NTGPE maximised opportunities to 
strengthen existing relationships and develop new 

bonds with practice and community members 
across the NT culminating with the growth of 
accredited GP Training Facilities and GP Supervisors. 
NTGPE provided various professional development 
opportunities for our GP Supervisors and primary 
health care teams throughout the NT taking our 
office on the road for several days visiting remote 
and rural parts of the NT.

GP Supervisors and Accreditation 

0

Total number of accredited training posts Accredited GP Supervisors 
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*NB 2014 data includes GP Supervisors for Extended Skills Post (ESP) and Advanced Skills Training (AST)/ 
Advanced Rural Skills Training (ARST) posts

**

Percentage of total accredited GP Practice Training Facilities that are AMS 
or are providing Aboriginal Health Training

41% 57% 66.5%
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2014 GP Supervisor Highlights

• Introduction of a Foundation Level Workshop 
specifically designed for new GP Supervisors 

• Supervisor Advisory Committee (SAC) created 
to provide representation from the supervisor 
group to engage in direct communication and 
provide feedback, suggestions and advice to 
NTGPE. Committee consists of GP Supervisors 
based in each main region as representatives 
of that region and the Supervisor Liaison Officer 
(SLO) is Chair of the Committee

• Overall satisfaction at Supervisor Professional 
Development Workshops was high and learning 
needs were met 

• The Pilot ‘Team Supervision Model’ was 
successfully rolled out in three practices with 
three more currently in planning and a report 
has been submitted to RACGP with NTGPEs 
recommendation that the use of the pilot model 
is continued to be used at sites where the need 
is identified 

• A total of 97 GP Supervisors attended Supervisor 
Professional Development Workshops in 2014 at 
one of 8 supervisor training events 

• Decision made and implemented that all NTGPE 
training posts to be accredited through both 
ACRRM and RACGP where possible

NT General Practice Supervisor 
Dr Michael Fonda shares his 
experiences

Dr Michael Fonda is a Northern Territory GP and GP 
Supervisor, passionate about rural medicine, training 
the next generation of doctors and about the three 
communities in which he works.

“The Adelaide River, Batchelor and Pine Creek 
regions around 100-200km south of Darwin, have 
quite a varied population, which makes it really 
interesting place,” says Dr Fonda.

“Around one third of population is Indigenous, and 
the other population groups revolve around the 
mining industry, primary producers, government 
and educational institutions and tourists particularly 
visiting Litchfield National Park. We also have our 
fair share of lovely and sometimes eccentric locals.”

“There is a mix of chronic disease verse acute 
presentations, which keeps you on your toes. There 
are really good allied health staff that service the 
region and it’s great to be part of that team.”

“The clinics we work in are well resourced and there 
is a good feeling of team work around the place.”

Dr Fonda services three clinics in Batchelor, Pine 
Creek and Adelaide River.

“At the Territory level Indigenous life expectancy is 

Supervisor and Practice Accreditation Coordinator 
Emma Carroll presents at a Supervisor and 
Professional Development Workshop 
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starting to improve, and in our area we’ve received 
good feedback from the Department of Health that 
our clinics are doing well with patients seeing some 
good results.

Dr Fonda accredits these successes in part to having 
an Aboriginal Health Practitioner in each clinic.

“We are fortunate enough to have Aboriginal Health 
Practitioners in all three clinics – and this enhances 
cultural safety of place and enhancement.”

In 2002, Dr Fonda arrived to the Northern Territory, 
midway through his medical degree with the 
University of Melbourne. He spent a year at Menzies 
School of Health Research in Darwin working 
on chronic disease secondary prevention. After 
completing his medical training at Melbourne 
University’s Rural Clinical School in Shepparton he 
returned to Darwin to begin working as a doctor. 
A few years later he completed his GP Registrar 
training in Batchelor and Adelaide River in 2010, 
under the mentorship of GP Supervisor Martin Muis.

An advocate for supervision Dr Fonda was 
supervising Prevocational Doctors with his colleague 
Dr Lucy Hurlstone up until earlier this year when 
cutting for the program ceased.

“We started taking PGPPPs in the middle of 2013, so 
we had one and a half years with them. I enjoyed 
being involved in the PGPPP training. Other than just 
being stimulating, the program showed doctors that 
working in rural and remote areas can be exciting 
and rewarding medicine.”

“Broadly, I noticed with all PGPPPs the difference in 
their approach to rural general practice at the end of 
their rotation. Even if they decided not to choose a 
rural general practice pathway – you could see the 
amount of life experience and medical exposure 
that they gained in a supported environment.”

Whilst Dr Fonda was sad to see PGPPP go, there was 
good news to share.

“We have had a GP Registrar commence recently 
and it will be great to have the extra pair of hands 
on deck. It’s more than just other doctors that 
really appreciate it; a new doctor in the community 
is appreciated by the patients and the broader 
community also.”

Dr Fonda lives 25 minutes out of Adelaide River and 
believes strongly that good housing is the key to 

retaining doctors in remote and rural communities 
long term.

“I live in a pretty quiet bit of bush, and for me 
that’s really important. If you can get a good home, 
and have things to do out of hours; it helps with 
sustainability over a number of years.”

On a final note Dr Fonda is currently in the process 
of writing about the uses of bush medicines used by 
the Wagiman people (Indigenous people of the Pine 
Creek region).

“Late last year we had an overnight camp near the 
Daly River in Wagiman country at the invitation of 
senior Wagiman rangers and traditional owners. 
We identified some bush medicine plants, planted 
them together and talked about utilisation of them 
in traditional medicine. We also spoke about ways of 
bridging cultural differences with regards to health 
beliefs and practices and improving utilisation of the 
existing health services”

“We have a plan to work with the Wagiman rangers 
to pass the information of traditional medicine to 
younger generations.”

Dr Michael Fonda, GP Supervisor at Batchelor, Pine Creek and 
Adelaide River 
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The PGPPP was a national program aiming to 
encourage doctors to consider General Practice 
(particularly rural and remote) as their chosen 
profession. For the NT, the program was also integral 
to the supply and access of primary health care for 
many of Australia’s most disadvantaged.

92 Prevocational Doctors from 17 different feeder 
hospitals (15 interstate hospitals, Alice Springs 
Hospital and Royal Darwin Hospital) completed 
a 13 week placement in rural, remote or very 
remote communities across the Northern Territory. 
Prevocational Doctors spent a total of 1170 hours 
in rural, remote and very remote communities. In 
2014, there were a total of 23 training posts for 
PGPPP across the NT. 

Prevocational Doctor training 
posts by region

2014 PGPPP Highlights 

• From January 2014, two new training posts 
opened up for PGPPP placements: Milingimbi 
Community Health Centre, in the Nhulunbuy 
area and Maningrida Health Centre, in the East 
Arnhem region;

• New training components for Prevocational 
Doctors were implemented as a direct result 
of NTGPE’s Continuous Improvement approach 
relating to participant feedback. This included 
Implanon training, Care Flight orientation, Mental 
Health education session and External Clinic 
Teaching Visits (ECTVs);

• We received positive feedback that witnessed a 
steady improvement of satisfaction levels in all 
key areas of placement (supervision, support, 
clinical experience and learning opportunities, 
logistics and accommodation); and

• PGPPP feedback indicated an increased 
likelihood that they would pursue general 
practice as a career and work in a rural/remote.

Prevocational General Practice 
Placement Program (PGPPP)

PGPPP Rachel Goh travels from Royal Melbourne Hospital for her 12 week placement 
at Central Australia Aboriginal Clinic (Alice Springs)

 
Darwin: 4

Darwin
Rural: 4

East 
Arnhem: 8

Katherine: 3

Barkly: 1

Central Australia: 3
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John Flynn Placement Program (JFPP)

The JFPP continues to be an important part of 
the long-term strategy to increase the number of 
doctors in rural and remote communities, thereby 
aiming to improve health outcomes for rural and 
remote Australians. 

In 2014, 84 Medical Students participating in the 
JFPP came to the NT for a total number of 93 
placements. These placements occurred at 35 
different placement locations across the NT. 

John Flynn Medical Students 
by region

2014 JFPP Highlights 

• Review of the JFPP funding by Department of 
Health (DoH).  In December 2014, DoH agreed 
to fund JFPP for a further six months (until June 
30 2015);

• 41 JFPP students completed their third and final 
placement in the NT and therefore completing 
their scholarship;

• While the NT wet season at the beginning 
and end of 2014 presented some logistical 
challenges in both Top End and Central Australia, 
all students successfully completed scheduled 
placements during these times;

• JFPP students attended four NT communities 
for the first time – Epenarra (Barkly), Lajamanu 
(Katherine region), Millingimbi and Gapuwiyak 
(both in East Arnhem)

• Further development of processes in terms 
of preparing and supporting JFPP for NT 
experiences. Development of detailed 
community profiles commenced as did pastoral 
care calls to students whilst on placement.

Desert Living: Medical Student’s 
experience of Central Australia

John Flynn Placement Program (JFPP) participant 
David Khoo recently completed his third and 
final placement in the Central Australia Clinic of 
Yulara. David who is an Intensive Care Unit Nurse 
is currently studying at Deakin University and is 
also Chair of the National Rural Health Student’s 
Network. He is a member of the JFPP National 
Advisory Council and completed his first two 
placements in Yuendumu, a Central Australian 
Aboriginal Community.

Three years ago when David was introduced to JFPP 
his decision to come to the NT was cemented by a 
growing interest in Aboriginal Health and a desire to 
experience this first-hand. The JFPP, which went over 
three years, lived up to his expectation and much 
more.

“Health is not something we can shape into a 
box. There are cultural barriers to receiving health 
treatment and it’s important to be versatile 
especially in a remote community. I learnt to treat 
the person not just the disease; it’s our job to look 
at the social and cultural circumstances of our 
patients,” says David.

  
Darwin: 24

East 
Arnhem: 18

Katherine: 5

Barkly: 7

Central Australia: 39
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For David, being a part of the JFPP taught him about 
himself, his boundaries and his comfort in a remote 
experience.

“I can safely say I am more equipped to doing rural 
and remote medicine.”

Yuendumu, where David completed his first two 
placements is a small isolated community about 
four hours (drive) North-West of Alice Springs. 
“Working in an extremely remote community where 
the population is 90% Aboriginal is completely 
eye opening. The clinical and cultural exposure 
is fantastic and being in such a remote location 
encourages you to go outside your comfort zone and 
meet members of the community.”

“When being remote I think social media plays an 
important role in keeping in touch with everyone 
in a personal and professional aspect. Using social 
media to bounce ideas and get professional advice 
is a helpful medium.”

“JFPP has completely changed my priorities; General 
Practice which I never considered when starting 
medicine is now one of my top preferences. I would 
definitely consider returning to the Territory, there’s 
an excellent balance of practicing medicine and 
understanding Aboriginal Culture in a great location.”

For all future JFPP participants, David has the 
following advice:

“Go with an open mind. The JFPP is not confined to 
the four walls of the clinic. Venture out and explore 
everything cultural and community wise.”

The JFPP was established in 1997 as an important 
part of the Australian Government’s strategy to 
attract more doctors to rural and remote regions to 
address areas of workforce shortage and improve 
the quality of health care for local communities.

The JFPP is funded by the Department of Health 
(DoH) and the Australian College of Rural and 
Remote Medicine (ACRRM) administers the program 
on behalf of the DoH.

Medical Students enrolled in accredited medical 
courses can apply for a place in the program. Each 
year a total of 300 Medical Students are selected 
to join the program from within Australia. NTGPE is 
sub-contracted by the ACRRM to deliver the JFPP in 
the NT.

John Flynn Medical Student Clare Matheson pictured in Elliot 
with the FIFO doctors
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Medical Education 

In 2014 NTGPE’s Medical Education Team continued 
to develop and deliver education and training for GP 
Registrars in accordance with the AGPT requirements 
and the Australian College of Rural and Remote 
Medicine and Royal Australian College of General 
Practitioners training standards. 

Our Medical Educators are particularly skilled at 
assisting GP Registrars in creating diverse and 
innovative Professional Development Plans (which 
include a combination of remote, Indigenous health, 
procedural, academic, public health, mainstream, 
hospital-based posts and more. 

The opportunity presented by Bi-College 
Accreditation was one that allowed NTGPE to 
focus on quality improvement of our education 
content and delivery. We examined adult learning 
principles and looked at how we could deliver the 
highest quality of training for GP Registrars and GP 
Supervisors in the range of contexts relevant to the 
NT. 

Fellowship and exam results for the last year were 
higher than previous years and can be attributed to 
the commitment of our Medical Education Team and 
the requirement for GP Registrars to gain experience 
in both remote and Aboriginal Health.

The end of 2014 saw the departure of one of 
NTGPE’s most committed and dedicated Medical 
Educators, Dr Christine Lesnikowski. After 11 years of 
delivering GP Medical Education in the NT, Christine 
has moved to clinical work full time again but leaves 
a lasting legacy in the quality of education delivered 
by NTGPE.

2014 Medical Education Highlights

• Largest Fulltime Equivalent (FTE) of Medical 
Educators (5.85 FTE) for last three years ensuring 
greater support across programs;

• Development of the Lead Medical Educator 
roles providing leadership in education planning 
and design and mentoring of junior Medical 
Educators;

• Full review of the curriculum and training 
delivery;

• Redesign of education delivery, pastoral care and 
training advisor teams/roles for 2015 ; and

• Consultation and exploration of new learning 
technologies.

Medical Educator Dr Erin Bryce, Alice Springs 
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In 2014 NTGPE’s Cultural Education Team provided 
the following to our program participants: 

• Tools to help develop trust with a patient;

• Strategies to break down cultural barriers; and

• Knowledge about Aboriginal culture.

Our Cultural Educators are well respected amongst 
their peers and respective communities. They hail 
from the Tiwi Islands, Tennant Creek and Darwin, 
and together bring a diversity of cultural stories and 
experiences. NTGPE’s reputation for the delivery of 
cultural orientation training excellence continued to 
grow in 2013 with our cultural training delivered to 
over 320 internal and external participants.

“Being a Cultural Educator is about balancing 
medical and cultural knowledge. Patients in 
Aboriginal communities can find medical jargon 
very difficult and we provide methods for doctors to 
better communicate with patients.” 

Elisabeth Heenan, NTGPE Cultural Educator. 

2014 Cultural Education Highlights 

• Established the Cultural Mentoring at Elcho 
Island;

• Delivered Cultural Immersion Camp at Tiwi 
Island;

• Reconciliation Action Plan was accredited by 
Reconciliation Australia;

• Participated in the Indigenous Leadership video 
developed by AMSANT;

• Presented at the AMSANT Indigenous Leadership 
Program; 

• Presented at National Aboriginal Community 
Controlled Health Organisation Health Forum; 

• Presented at 2015 GPET Convention; and 

• Presented on Community Cultural Mentoring 
Program at the World Indigenous Health 
Conference.

Cultural Education 

Cultural Immersion Camp participants and staff 
pictured with Nguiu residents 
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2014 Cultural Immersion Camps 

A Reflection by Senior Cultural Educator Richard Fejo

There was a lot of excitement and build up 
surrounding the 2014 Cultural Immersion Camps. 
This year they were held at Tarntipi Homelands on 
Bathurst Island and hosted by the Traditional Owner 
Mr Edward “Teddy” Portaminni with his wife Mrs 
Teresia Portaminni and family. Cultural Educator 
Elisabeth Heenan is Teddy’s Sister-in-Law and played 
an integral role in negotiations between NTGPE and 
Teddy to host this year’s camps.

I was feeling super excited about mixing with and 
learning from the Tiwi people. I wondered ‘could 
it actually be that different from the old ways in 
Darwin that I remember’. I reflected on this over 
a few days as my anticipation built up prior to 
departure.

In the build up to this year’s camp there was also 
keen interest to attend by our GP Registrars and I 
could see how this was affecting Elisabeth in the 
days before the camp. Both the excitement and the 
pride of hosting the camp was generating so much 
anticipation in Elisabeth that closer to the day she 
was ringing around wanting everything to be perfect 
for the camp and all of their effort certainly paid off.

Elisabeth, Garry Lambert (NTGPE’s Executive 
Manager Support Services) and Paul Bubb 
(Cultural Immersion Camp Coordinator) flew out 
to Wurumiyanga on the Wednesday for final 
preparations. I was to meet the GP Registrars at 
Fly Tiwi early the next morning where on arrival 
I was instructed by Paul to hand out folders 
containing the activity schedule and readings for the 
camp. The participants turned up one-by-one and 
were rewarded with the honour of first (NTGPE’s 
Marketing and Communications Officer Lisa Taylor), 
second (Dr Mindy Crowe), third (Dr Mick Tong), four 
(Dr Suzanne Conden) and last (Dr Iyngaranathan 
Selvaratnam) place as I played ‘The Amazing Race’ 
with them.

The flight with Fly Tiwi produced some stunning 
views of Darwin and the Tiwi Islands. The GP 
Registrars were in awe, which was shown by the 

fact that everyone had their cameras out to take 
photos for the whole flight! We were greeted by 
Elisabeth, Garry and Paul, who drove us out to the 
Tarntipi Homelands and our campsite for the next 
two nights. A welcoming Teddy and family were 
met and Teddy did a ‘Welcome to Country’ that 
called out to his ancestors to allow his visitors safe 
passage. ‘Welcome to Country’ is significant to all 
Indigenous people and seeing Teddy call out to his 
ancestors in Tiwi language and explain what he was 
doing brought a nice ease over the group.

Our first task once arriving was to set up – this 
included putting up tents in separate women’s 
and gentlemen’s camps (that took a while, not 
the easiest to put together!), the kitchen station, 
the rustic shower cubicle and the temporary toilet 
block. After a good workout and a sandwich or two, 
we all went to the beautiful local beach where the 
women headed through the mangroves to hunt for 
mud mussels and mangrove worms and the men 
searched for spears. I tried a mangrove worm for 
the first time later that day, which tasted like oyster 
but had the feel of squid. I was relieved that I had 
achieved my goal of trying something new.

Later I taught the GP Registrars the desert kinship 
through role plays and then Teddy told us about the 
kinship of the Tiwi people in the late afternoon. Prior 
to a hearty meal of stew and a barbeque cooked 
by Paul and Garry the women and men separately 
visited the freshwater waterhole nearby for a 
refreshing swim. The evening was filled with singing 
and reflections of the day and finally everyone 
headed to bed with heavy eyes.

The next morning involved heading off early to the 
Health Centre for a scheduled PGPPP teleconference. 
While I was dialling into this the GP Registrars 
visited the Mulakunya Flexible Aged Care Services 
and once the teleconference was completed I met 
the GP Registrars to tour the Julanimawu Health 
Centre and then Tiwi Art and Design and a quick 
look around the community.

Once returning to the camp site in the afternoon 
the women had a chance to try basket weaving 
while the men checked the crab pots (no luck!) 
and worked on their spears. A surprise for the late 
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afternoon was joining in on the collection of ‘sugar 
bag’ honey. It was a special treat for us all; everyone 
enjoyed sampling the sweet honey that could not 
be matched by any supermarket bought honey. It 
was also a real pleasure to see the excitement on 
the local kids’ faces as they raced to get a feed. 
The night ended with a big meal cooked by the 
GP Registrars, toasting marshmallows (thanks to 
me managing to grab the last bag at the local 
supermarket that day), reflecting on the day and 
then some of us finishing by possum hunting (it 
escaped us).

Our last morning involved packing up camp and 
saying our farewells. The flight home with Fly Tiwi 
was just as spectacular as the one across; however 
all of us had heavy hearts that we were leaving the 
Tiwi Islands and our new found Tiwi friends in Teddy 
and family. Without a doubt, all of us will be back 
and will be welcomed with open arms.

Thank you to Elisabeth, Garry and Paul on making 
the camp a success, as well as to Teddy and his 
family for such a wonderful experience and teaching 
us about Tiwi life.

Senior Cultural Educator Richard Fejo has presented at many 
conferences 

The Cultural Education team. Patricia Rankine, 
Elisabeth Heenan, Leeanne Pena and Richard Fejo 
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of Northern Territory 
General Practice Education Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 
the Auditor’s report thereon.
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Northern Territory General Practice Education - 1

Contents

Directors’ Report 1

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 9

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 10

Statement of Financial Position 11

Statement of Changes in Equity 12

Statement of Cash Flows 13

Notes to the Financial Statements 14

Directors’ Declaration 31

Independent Auditor’s Report 32

     Annual Financial Statements 2014



Role of the Board

The Board is responsible for the overall corporate governance of the Company including formulating 
its strategic direction, approving and monitoring capital expenditure, setting remuneration, 
appointing, removing and creating succession policies for Directors and Senior Executives, 
establishing and monitoring the achievement of management’s goals and ensuring the integrity of 
risk management, internal control, legal compliance and management information systems.

It is also responsible for approving and monitoring financial and other reporting requirements.

The Board has delegated responsibility for operation and administration of the Company to the 
Executive Director and Executive Management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal authority 
delegations.

Board processes

To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has established a Finance and Audit 
Committee. This committee has written mandates and operating procedures, which are reviewed on 
a regular basis.  The Board has also established a framework for the management of the Company 
including a system of internal control, a business risk management process and the establishment 
of appropriate ethical standards.

The full Board currently holds four scheduled meetings each year, plus strategy meetings and any 
extraordinary meetings at such other times as may be necessary to address any specific significant 
matters that may arise.

Independent professional advice and access to 
Company information

Each Director has the right of access to all relevant Company information and to the Company’s 
Executives and, subject to prior consultation with the Chairperson, may seek independent 
professional advice from a suitably qualified Advisor at the Company’s expense.  The Director must 
consult with an Advisor suitably qualified in the relevant field, and obtain the Chairperson’s approval 
of the fee payable for the advice before proceeding with the consultation.  A copy of the advice 
received by the Director is made available to all other members of the Board.

1. Directors
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Name and qualifications
Experience, special responsibilities and other 
directorships

Dr Samuel Heard 
(Chairperson) 
MBBS, Dip RCOG, MRCGP, 
FRACGP, FACHI

Dr Samuel Heard has a distinguished career in medical 
education and private health sectors both in Australia and the 
United Kingdom. Sam is currently Chief Executive Officer of 
Ocean Informatics and has been a Senior Lecturer in General 
Practice, first with London University and until 2002 with 
Flinders University.

Dr Emma Kennedy 
BMBS, MFM, FRACGP, 
Dip RACOG, GAICD

Dr Emma Kennedy is a Senior Lecturer in General Practice at 
the Northern Territory Medical Program, Flinders University. 
Emma has also lectured for the Northern Territory Clinical 
School, Flinders University and Sydney University. Emma has 
held Medical Educator positions with the Royal Australian 
College of General Practitioners and Northern Territory General 
Practice Education Limited.

Ms Margaret Brown 
AM

Ms Margaret Brown is the National Rural & Remote Consumer 
Representative and has extensive experience in rural and 
remote health and has been an active member on many 
committees including Flinders University Rural, Royal Doctors 
Association of Australia (RDAA) Specialist Obstetrician Locum 
Scheme, Medicare Australia Consumer Communication Group 
and National Chairperson Health Consumers of Rural and 
Remote Australia, National Rural Health Alliance.

Dr Jo Wright 
MB BS, Dip RACOG, 
FAFPHM, GAICD

Dr Jo Wright commenced in Remote Health with the 
Northern Territory Department of Health in 1990, and has 
extensive experience in primary health care service delivery, 
management, reform, evaluation and teaching. He has been 
a contributing Editor to several editions of the CARPA Standard 
Treatment Manual.  Jo has been working as a Senior Director 
with the Northern Territory Department of Health.

Dr Max Chalmers 
MB, ChB, MHP, DRANZCOG, 
FACRRM, GAICD

Dr Max Chalmers is a rural General Practitioner at the Australian 
College of Rural and Remote Medicine.  Max has extensive 
experience in Rural General Practice Training as a Training 
Supervisor, Medical Educator, Examiner and Advocate, and 
currently Director Top End Health Services Board. He has past 
experience as a Director for Divisions of General Practice, Rural 
Workforce Agency, Rural Doctors’ Association of Australia and 
currently family companies.
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Role of the Board
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Executive Director and Executive Management. Responsibilities are delineated by formal authority 
delegations.
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professional advice from a suitably qualified Advisor at the Company’s expense.  The Director must 
consult with an Advisor suitably qualified in the relevant field, and obtain the Chairperson’s approval 
of the fee payable for the advice before proceeding with the consultation.  A copy of the advice 
received by the Director is made available to all other members of the Board.
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Please refer to Note 17 for further information relating to compensation for key management.

All of the above named directors have been independently appointed and non executive directors.

Name and qualifications
Experience, special responsibilities and other 
directorships

Prof Paul Worley 
MBBS, PhD, MBA, FACCRM, 
FRACGP, DObstRANZCOG

Professor Paul Worley is currently Dean of Medicine at Flinders 
University. A practicing rural and General Practitioner, he was a 
founding Chairman of Sturt Fleurieu General Practice Education 
and Training and a long standing Director of the Rural Health 
Education Foundation.

Ms Dorothy Morrison 
BA, DipContEd, MEd GAICD

Dorothy Morrison has been the Chief Executive Officer for 
the Heart Foundation Northern Territory since 2008. She has 
significant experience across the health and education sectors 
in policy analysis and development; strategic, operational and 
business planning; and professional practice.  Ms Morrison’s 
work in the health and education sectors included the 
development of policies and plans in health promotion, public 
health, Indigenous health and Indigenous education. She has 
also held Senior Executive roles in the Department of Education 
and Training (DET) and Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary 
Education (BIITE), which involved oversight of Indigenous 
education across the Northern Territory.

Prof Sue Carthew 
BSc, PhD, MAICD

Professor Sue Carthew has been Pro Vice Chancellor of the 
Faculty of Engineering, Health, Science and the Environment 
at Charles Darwin University where she oversees four higher 
education schools and several research centres / institutes.  
She previously held positions of Head of School and Head of 
Discipline at the University of Adelaide.  During her 20 plus 
years as an Academic Educator, she has been involved on a 
number of boards and government committees, mostly related 
to the environmental policy and management. 
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2. Company secretary

3. Directors’ meetings

4. Directors’ remuneration

 Dr Jo Wright was appointed as Company Secretary from 11 May 2011.

The number of Directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of 
the Company during the financial year are:

Director      Board meetings

      A  B  C

Dr Samuel Heard    4  4  4

Dr Emma Kennedy    4  4  4

Ms Margaret Brown    3  4  4

Dr Jo Wright     4  4  4

Dr Max Chalmers    4  4  4

Prof Paul Worley     1  4  4

Ms Dorothy Morrison     4  4  4

Prof Sue Carthew     4  4  4

     

A – Number of meetings attended   

B – Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year       

C – Number of meetings held during the year 

Director’s fees paid during the year amounted to $99,356 (2013:  $50,925).
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The principal activity of the Company during the year was that of providing vocational education for 
general practice in the Northern Territory. There is no change to the principal activity since the last 
financial year.

Objectives

The objectives of the Company are:

(a) To provide and facilitate the education of health care professionals and support the delivery of 
health services in Northern and Central Australia and other jurisdictions with similar needs.

(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing the objects of the Company include but are not 
limited to the following:

 i. To provide education and continuing professional development to doctors, students and   
 other health professionals;

 ii. To provide cultural education and training in cross-cultural practice to health professionals;

 iii. To conduct or promote training courses or programs to education professionals in relation to  
 healthcare delivery;

 iv. To collaborate with appropriate agencies in acquiring, purchasing, building, leasing or   
 otherwise suitable facilities to maximise:

  a. the ability of health services to cater adequately for educational and training   
  activities and maximise learning opportunities; 

  b. the availability of educational facilities for training activities;

  c. the availability of housing and other supportive facilities for registrars, doctors, other  
  health professionals and students wherever training is or can be provided; and

  d. To engage in or promote research in education and health care.

(c) The Company adopts the following strategies to achieve their objectives:

 i. Provide infrastructure (include housing), personnel to deliver education and training   
 throughout the region;

 ii. Maintain contracts with funding bodies to deliver the programs; and

 iii. Maintain and develop key stakeholder relationships.

(d) The Principal activity of provision of vocational education assists in achieving the short and long 
term goals of improving quality general practice and practitioners providing health services in 
the NT.

5. Principal activity
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  (e) The Company measures its performance by monitoring:

   i. the number of general practice registrars continuing practice in the region 
   post qualification;

   ii. the number of general practice registrars succeeding in professional examinations;

   iii. the number of general practice registrars recruited; and

   iv. the evaluation process as required in the contracts.

6. Operating and financial review
  The operating profit for the year amounted to $825,707 (2013:  $746,307).

7. Events subsequent to reporting date
 There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial period and the date of this   
 report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion   
 of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of the Company, the results of  
 those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company, in future financial years.

8. Likely developments
 Likely developments in the operations of the Company and the expected results of those operations  
 in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the information  
 would be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company.

9. Proceedings on behalf of the Company
 No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or   
 intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking    
 responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or any of those proceedings.

10. Winding up
 In the event of winding up, the constitution requires each member of the Company to contribute a  
 maximum of two dollars towards the outstanding obligations of the Company. 

11. Indemnification of officers and auditors
 Indemnification

 Since the end of the previous financial period, the Company has not indemnified or made a relevant  
 agreement for indemnifying against a liability any person who is or has been an Officer or Auditor 
 of the Company.
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12. Auditor’s independence declaration

The Auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 9 and forms part of the Directors’ report for the 
year ended 31 December 2014.

This report is made with a resolution of the Directors:

Dr Samuel Heard, Chairman

Dated at Darwin this 28th day of April 2015.
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2014

 Note 2014 2013

 $ $

Revenue 4 15,645,015 13,426,740

Expenses

Advertising (116,185) (129,364)

Amenities (51,323) (41,720)

Board expenses (103,239) (57,792)

Compliance costs (75,174) (71,034)

Consumables 5 (368,289) (226,459)

Consultants and contractors 5 (683,894) (442,213)

Depreciation 5 (156,675) (168,397)

Employment expenses 5 (3,795,584) (3,473,108)

Fringe benefits tax (35,588) (35,946)

Insurance (61,463) (53,016)

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (56,287) (7,813)

Practice payments 5 (6,718,927) (5,564,278)

Telecommunications (147,342) (155,141)

Travel and accommodation 5 (1,063,725) (754,878)

Office rental (187,947) (158,328)

Venue hire (8,780) (6,838)

Rental accommodation, doctors and students (570,268) (514,017)

IHT Strategic Plan (547,484) (17,727)

Educational resources (49,317) (11,398)

Orientation and training          (108,190)       (85,615)

Catering expenses (61,959) (42,344)

Refund- prior year grants 0 (805,335)

Results from operating activities        677,375       603,979

Finance income 152,517 147,004

Finance expenses (4,185) (4,676)

Net finance income 148,332 142,328

Surplus/(Deficit) before income tax 825,707 746,307

Income tax expense 0 0

Surplus/(Deficit) after income tax attributable to 
members of the Company 825,707 746,307

Other Comprehensive income for the year net of tax 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
members of the Company 825,707 746,307

The notes on pages 14 to 30 are integral to these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2014

 Note 2014 2013

 $ $

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12a 8,284,551 5,834,308

Trade and other receivables 6 93,759 47,865

Prepayments 7 218,691 89,604

Total current assets 8,597,001 5,971,777

  

Non Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment 8 832,493 1,026,054

Intangibles 8a 167,593 0

Total non-current assets 1,000,086 1,026,054

Total Assets 9,597,087 6,997,831

LIABILITIES

  

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 9 3,187,417 967,996

Provisions 10 827,359 1,276,552

Total current liabilities 4,014,776 2,244,548

Non Current Liabilities

Provisions 10 34,370 31,049

Total non-current liabilities 34,370 31,049

Total Liabilities 4,049,146 2,275,597

Net Assets 5,547,941 4,722,234

EQUITY

Retained earnings 11 5,547,941 4,722,234

Total equity attributable to members of the Company 5,547,941 4,722,234

The notes on pages 14 to 30 are integral to these financial statements.

Northern Territory General Practice Education - 11

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2014

Attributable to members of the Company

Asset replacement 
reserve

Retained earnings Total equity

$ $ $

Balance at 1 January 2013 431,755 3,544,172 3,975,927

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year 0 746,307 746,307

Transfer ARR to Equity (431,755) 431,755 0

Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax                                               

Balance at 31 December 2013 0 4,722,234 4,722,234

Balance at 1 January 2014 0 4,722,234 4,722,234

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year 0 825,707 825,707

Other comprehensive income for the year net 
of tax

0 0 0

Balance at 31 December 2014 0 5,547,941 5,547,941

The notes on pages 14 to 30 are integral to these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2014

 Note 2014 2013

$ $

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash receipts from customers 17,053,613 12,575,515

Interest received 152,517 147,004

Interest paid (4,185) (4,676)

Payments to suppliers (10,875,742) (8,661,547)

Payments to employees (3,691,775) (3,471,138)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 12(c) 2,634,428 585,158

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for the acquisition of assets 8 (190,732) (486,945)

Proceeds from disposal of assets 6,547 18,750

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (184,185) (468,195)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 2,450,243 116,963

Cash at beginning of year 5,834,308 5,717,345

Cash at end of year 12(a) 8,284,551 5,834,308

The notes on pages 14 to 30 are integral to these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
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of tax                                               

Balance at 31 December 2013 0 4,722,234 4,722,234

Balance at 1 January 2014 0 4,722,234 4,722,234

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year 0 825,707 825,707

Other comprehensive income for the year net 
of tax

0 0 0

Balance at 31 December 2014 0 5,547,941 5,547,941

The notes on pages 14 to 30 are integral to these financial statements.
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Note 1: Reporting Entity

Northern Territory General Practice Education Limited is a Company limited by guarantee and is incorporated 
and domiciled in Northern Territory, Australia.  In the event of winding up, the Constitution requires each 
member of the Company to contribute a maximum of $2 towards the outstanding obligations of the 
Company.  The Company is primarily involved in the provision of vocational education for general practice in 
the Northern Territory.  As at 31 December 2014, the following were members of Northern Territory General 
Practice Education Limited: Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Australian College of Rural and 
Remote Medicine, Northern Territory Medicare Local, Charles Darwin University, AMSANT Incorporated and 
The Flinders University of South Australia.

The following are a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Company in the 
preparation of the financial report, which was authorised for issue by the Directors on 28th April 2015.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted

The Company has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting 
period.

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not 
been early adopted.

Any significant impact on the accounting policies of the Company from the adoption of these Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations are disclosed below. The adoption of these Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations did not have any significant impact on the financial performance or position of the Company.

The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Company:

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

The Company has applied AASB 2012-3 from 1 January 2014. The amendments add application guidance 
to address inconsistencies in the application of the offsetting criteria in AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: 
Presentation’, by clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off’; and clarifies 
that some gross settlement systems may be considered to be equivalent to net settlement.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2014
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AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets

The Company has applied AASB 2013-3 from 1 January 2014. The disclosure requirements of AASB 
136 ‘Impairment of Assets’ have been enhanced to require additional information about the fair value 
measurement when the recoverable amount of impaired assets is based on fair value less costs of 
disposals. Additionally, if measured using a present value technique, the discount rate is required to be 
disclosed.

(b) Basis of preparation

These general purpose financial statements cover Northern Territory General Practice Education Ltd 
as an individual entity and have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’), other authorities 
pronouncements of the AASB and the Australian Charities and Not for Profit Commission Act 2012 (ACNC 
Act 2012), as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities. For the purposes of preparing these financial 
statements, the company is a not for profit entity. The financial statements are presented in Australian 
dollars, which is Northern Territory General Practice Education Ltd’s functional and presentational currency.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and on an accruals basis.

(c) Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

(d) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Company and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable.

(e) Government Grants

Government grants are recognised as income when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received 
and that the Company will comply with the conditions associated with the grant.

Grants that compensate the Company expenses as incurred are recognised in the income statement on a 
systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are recognised.

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the entity obtains control of 
the grant and it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the entity and the 
amount of the grant can be measured reliably.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, 
otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

(f) Services Revenue

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement at the time when the services are 
performed.

(g) Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest expense is also recognised in the statement of profit or loss using the effective interest method.

(h) Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

(i) Income tax

As the Company is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

(j) Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification.

An asset is current when: it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or 
used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as 
non-current.

A liability is current when: it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for 
the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current.
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(k) Subsequent Costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the 
Company and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income 
statement as incurred.

(l) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(m) Trade and other receivables

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

(n) Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant 
and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows:

Furniture, fittings & office equipment    1-40 years

Computer equipment      1-10 years

Motor vehicles       8 years

Land & buildings      33 1/3 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the Company. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal 
proceeds are taken to profit or loss.

(o) Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive the 
contribution, the recognition of the grant as revenue will be deferred until those conditions are satisfied.

When grant revenue is received whereby the entity incurs an obligation to deliver economic value directly 
back to the contributor, this is considered a reciprocal transaction and the grant revenue is recognised in 
the statement of financial position as a liability until the service has been delivered to the contributor, 
otherwise the grant is recognised as income on receipt.

(f) Services Revenue

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the income statement at the time when the services are 
performed.

(g) Interest

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest expense is also recognised in the statement of profit or loss using the effective interest method.

(h) Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

(i) Income tax

As the Company is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

(j) Current and non-current classification

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification.

An asset is current when: it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months 
after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or 
used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as 
non-current.

A liability is current when: it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for 
the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 
unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current.
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Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-
in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount 
rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have 
independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

(p) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost 
and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(q) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect 
of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for wages and salaries are included as part of other creditors and 
liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are included as part of employee benefit provisions.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
of the reporting date are recognised in non-current liabilities, provided there is an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability. The liability is measured as the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit 
credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred.

(r) Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in 
the statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 
cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the tax authority.

(s) Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation.  Provisions expected to be settled within 12 months of reporting date are 
measured at their nominal amounts.  All other provisions are measured by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
of the specific liability.

(t) Provision for Practice Payments

A provision of $467,055 at 31 December 2014  (2013: $1,014,737) has been recognised for estimated 
claims in respect of practice payments, teaching allowances, claim reimbursements, feeder hospital salaries 
and Indigenous health training salaries which are still outstanding at balance date, and payable to clinics 
and hospitals.  

(u) Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating of finance leases based on the economic 
substance of the agreement so as to reflect the risks and benefits incidental to ownership.

Operating Leases

The minimum lease payments of operating leases, where the lessor effectively retains substantially all of 
the risks and benefits of ownership of the leased items, are recognised as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

(v)  Prohibition upon distribution of income, profit and assets

Upon winding up of the Company, after payment of all the liabilities of the Company, the surplus assets:

(a) Shall not be divided amongst the members

(b) Shall, upon special resolution of the members, be paid or transferred to another incorporated or 
unincorporated, having similar objects to the Company.  If the Members are unable to pass a special 
resolution, then the surplus assets are to be paid or transferred on the direction of the Supreme Court of 
the Northern Territory, on application of the Company or any Member.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-
in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount 
rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have 
independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.

(p) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost 
and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(q) Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect 
of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities for wages and salaries are included as part of other creditors and 
liabilities for annual leave and long service leave are included as part of employee benefit provisions.

Other long-term employee benefits

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months 
of the reporting date are recognised in non-current liabilities, provided there is an unconditional right to 
defer settlement of the liability. The liability is measured as the present value of expected future payments 
to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit 
credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the 
reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Defined contribution superannuation expense

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred.

(r) Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred 
is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense.
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(w) Intangible Assets- Website costs 

Website costs are recognised as intangible assets if and only if : (a) it is probable that the expected future 
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and (b) the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably. An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of 
an internal project) shall be recognised if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following: (a)  
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; (b) its 
intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; (c) its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
(d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, and among other things the 
entity can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset itself, or it is used 
internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; (e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and 
other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and (f) its ability to 
measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The costs incurred in the planning phase of the website development is expensed outright.

(x) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are 
not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Company for the annual reporting period ended 31 
December 2014. The Company’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, most relevant to the Company, are set out below.

AASB 15 (issued December 2015) Revenue from Contracts with Customers

An entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. This means that revenue will be recognised when control of goods or services 
is transferred, rather than on transfer of risks and rewards as is currently the case under IAS 18 Revenue. 
These amendments are applicable from annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Due 
to the recent release of this standard, the entity has not yet made a detailed assessment of the impact of 
this standard.

AASB 2015-2 (issued January 2015) Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  - Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101

Amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify that:

• Materiality applies to all primary financial statements and notes, and applies even to a list of specific, 
minimum disclosures;

• Line items can be disaggregated if doing so could influence a user’s decision;

• Subtotals must be made up of items recognised in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards;

• Additional subtotals in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income must be 
reconciled back to subtotals required by AASB 101;

• Notes no longer need to follow the order of items in the financial statements and related items can be 
grouped together (e.g. all financial instruments);

• Accounting policies can be placed at the end of the notes to the financial statements; and
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• Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures must be separately classified into 
amounts that will be reclassified to profit or loss in future, and amounts that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss in future.

• These amendments are applicable from annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 
These amendments affect presentation and disclosures only. Therefore on first time adoption of these 
amendments on 1 January 2016, comparatives will need to be restated in line with presentation and 
note ordering.

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures

The amendment clarifies that an entity that provides key management personnel services (‘management 
entity’) to a reporting entity (or to the parent of the reporting entity), is a related party of the reporting 
entity. The amendment also requires separate disclosure of amounts recognised as an expense for key 
management personnel services provided by a separate management entity (but not in the categories set 
out in AASB 124.17). These amendments are applicable from annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2014.

There will be no impact on the financial statements when these amendments are first adopted because this 
is a disclosure standard only. As the group does not currently engage the services of a management entity, 
it is also unlikely that any additional disclosures will be required when this amendment is adopted for the 
first time for the year ended 31 December 2015.

AASB 2014-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation

These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. AASB 
2014-4 amends AASB 116 and AASB 138 to clarify that depreciation and amortisation should be based 
on the expected pattern of consumption of an asset, that the use of revenue based methods to calculate 
depreciation is not appropriate, and that there is a rebuttable presumption that revenue is an inappropriate 
basis for measuring the consumption of the economic benefit embodied in an intangible asset. The 
adoption of these amendments from 1 January 2016 will not have a material impact on the Company.

Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and 
on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related 
actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

Note 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
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(w) Intangible Assets- Website costs 

Website costs are recognised as intangible assets if and only if : (a) it is probable that the expected future 
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and (b) the cost of the asset can 
be measured reliably. An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of 
an internal project) shall be recognised if, and only if, an entity can demonstrate all of the following: (a)  
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; (b) its 
intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it; (c) its ability to use or sell the intangible asset; 
(d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits, and among other things the 
entity can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible asset itself, or it is used 
internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; (e) the availability of adequate technical, financial and 
other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and (f) its ability to 
measure the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The costs incurred in the planning phase of the website development is expensed outright.

(x) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are 
not yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Company for the annual reporting period ended 31 
December 2014. The Company’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations, most relevant to the Company, are set out below.

AASB 15 (issued December 2015) Revenue from Contracts with Customers

An entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. This means that revenue will be recognised when control of goods or services 
is transferred, rather than on transfer of risks and rewards as is currently the case under IAS 18 Revenue. 
These amendments are applicable from annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. Due 
to the recent release of this standard, the entity has not yet made a detailed assessment of the impact of 
this standard.

AASB 2015-2 (issued January 2015) Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards  - Disclosure Initiative: 
Amendments to AASB 101

Amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements to clarify that:

• Materiality applies to all primary financial statements and notes, and applies even to a list of specific, 
minimum disclosures;

• Line items can be disaggregated if doing so could influence a user’s decision;

• Subtotals must be made up of items recognised in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards;

• Additional subtotals in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income must be 
reconciled back to subtotals required by AASB 101;

• Notes no longer need to follow the order of items in the financial statements and related items can be 
grouped together (e.g. all financial instruments);

• Accounting policies can be placed at the end of the notes to the financial statements; and
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Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for 
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly 
as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will 
increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. The carrying value of 
property, plant and equipment was $1,000,086 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: $1,026,054).

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The Company assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. There is no balance of allowance for impairment 
as of 31 December 2013 and 2014.

Employee benefits provision

As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months 
from the reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of 
the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken 
into account. The balance of non current liabilities in respect of long Service Leave was $34,370 as at 31 
December 2014 (2013 : $31,049).

Provision for feeder hospital salaries and ATSIHT Registrar salaries

The liability for feeder hospital salaries has been measured by applying the standard weekly 
reimbursement to the term 4 weeks for PGPPP placements.  

The liability for registrar salaries under the ATSIHTSS scheme has been recognised by estimating the 
remaining claims for salaries to the end of the term, by reference to the last paid invoice for this purpose.

The balance of provision for practice payments was $467,055 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: $1,016,737).
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2014 2013
 $ $
4. Revenue

Government financial assistance 15,327,679 12,861,751
Other revenue 317,336 564,989

15,645,015 13,426,740

2014 2013
5. Expenses $ $
 Consumables

Printing, stationery and IT consumables 103,501 89,469
Postage 9,294 13,120
Subscriptions and periodicals 32,313 36,017
Staff Amenities 48,531 57,748
Office Refurbishment 174,650 30,105

368,289 226,459

Consultants and Contractors
Educational 613,286 266,860
Management 68,738 169,727
Other 1,870 5,626

683,894 442,213
    
Depreciation
Furniture, fittings & office equipment 16,640 20,358
Computer and related equipment 62,376 94,894
Motor vehicles 30,503 29,825
Land & buildings 47,156 23,320

156,675 168,397

Practice payments
Practice payments 494,883 272,430
Teaching allowance 537,832 263,536
Clinic incentives 168,000 350,424
Claim reimbursements 2,047,842 2,037,888
IHT salary payments 3,470,370 2,640,000

6,718,927 5,564,278

Travel and accommodation
Accommodation 214,854 165,740
Airfares 484,149 321,540
Allowances 41,323 23,817
Hire vehicles 32,281 17,372
External courses and study 159,011 132,566
Relocation expenses 41,160 15,038
Taxis 34,240 20,383
Other 56,707 58,422

1,063,725 754,878
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Estimation of useful lives of assets

The Company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for 
its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly 
as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will 
increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. The carrying value of 
property, plant and equipment was $1,000,086 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: $1,026,054).

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets

The Company assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Company and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. There is no balance of allowance for impairment 
as of 31 December 2013 and 2014.

Employee benefits provision

As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months 
from the reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of 
the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been taken 
into account. The balance of non current liabilities in respect of long Service Leave was $34,370 as at 31 
December 2014 (2013 : $31,049).

Provision for feeder hospital salaries and ATSIHT Registrar salaries

The liability for feeder hospital salaries has been measured by applying the standard weekly 
reimbursement to the term 4 weeks for PGPPP placements.  

The liability for registrar salaries under the ATSIHTSS scheme has been recognised by estimating the 
remaining claims for salaries to the end of the term, by reference to the last paid invoice for this purpose.

The balance of provision for practice payments was $467,055 as at 31 December 2014 (2013: $1,016,737).
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2014 2013
$ $

Personnel expenses
Salaries and wages 3,431,909 3,148,382
Payroll tax 0 1,598
Superannuation 363,675 323,128

3,795,584 3,473,108

6. Trade and other receivables
Trade debtors 80,479 28,217
Other debtors 13,280 19,648

93,759 47,865

7. Prepayments
Prepaid insurance & expenses 218,691 89,604

8. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture fittings 
& office equip

Computer & 
related equip

Motor 
vehicles

Land & 
buildings

Total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013 197,911 614,413 224,597 283,725 1,320,646

Disposals 0 (718) (39,404) 0 (40,122)

Additions 1,669 6,702 58,837 419,837 486,945

Balance at 31 December 2013 199,580 620,397 244,030 703,462 1,767,469

Balance at 1 January 2014 199,580 620,397 244,030 703,462 1,767,469

Disposals (46,766) (443,681) 0 0 (490,447)

Additions 4,124 10,875 0 8140 23,139

Balance at 31 December 2014 156,938 187,591 244,030 711,602 1,300,161

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2013 112,008 395,053 37,149 42,367 586,577

Depreciation for the year 20,358 94,894 29,825 23,320 168,397

Disposal 0 (604) (12,955) 0 (13,559)

Balance at 31 December 2013 132,366 489,343 54,019 65,687 741,415

Balance at 1 January 2014 132,366 489,343 54,019 65,687 741,415

Depreciation for the year 16,640 62,376 30,502 47,157 156,675

Disposals (34,127) (396,295) 0 0 (430,422)

Balance at 31 December 2014 114,879 155,424 84,521 112,844 467,668

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2013 85,903 219,360 187,449 241,358 734,069

At 31 December 2013 67,214 131,054 190,010 637,775 1,026,054

At 1 January 2014 67,214 131,054 190,011 637,775 1,026,054

At 31 December 2014 42,059 32,167 159,509 598,758 832,493
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2014 2013
$ $

8a. Intangibles                                                                           
Website Costs 167,593 $

9. Trade and other payables
Grants received in advance 1,457,048 0

 Trade creditors 454,986 90,935
Other creditors 128,743 106,852
GST / FBT / PAYG Payable 236,817 116,551
Unspent Grants 909,823 653,658

3,187,417 967,996

10. Provisions
Current  
Employee benefits 360,304 259,815

 Practice payments 467,055 1,016,737
827,359 1,276,552

Non-current
Long service leave 34,370 31,049

Number of employees at year end 41 37

11. Total equity
Retained earnings at the beginning of the year 4,722,234 3,975,927
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 825,707 746,307

5,547,941 4,722,234

12a. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 1,000 1,000
Cash at bank – Westpac Banking Corporation 8,283,551 5,833,308

8,284,551 5,834,308

12b. Cash Restrictions
Being unspent grant monies 909,823 653,658
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2014 2013
$ $

Personnel expenses
Salaries and wages 3,431,909 3,148,382
Payroll tax 0 1,598
Superannuation 363,675 323,128

3,795,584 3,473,108

6. Trade and other receivables
Trade debtors 80,479 28,217
Other debtors 13,280 19,648

93,759 47,865

7. Prepayments
Prepaid insurance & expenses 218,691 89,604

8. Property, plant and equipment

Furniture fittings 
& office equip

Computer & 
related equip

Motor 
vehicles

Land & 
buildings

Total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013 197,911 614,413 224,597 283,725 1,320,646

Disposals 0 (718) (39,404) 0 (40,122)

Additions 1,669 6,702 58,837 419,837 486,945

Balance at 31 December 2013 199,580 620,397 244,030 703,462 1,767,469

Balance at 1 January 2014 199,580 620,397 244,030 703,462 1,767,469

Disposals (46,766) (443,681) 0 0 (490,447)

Additions 4,124 10,875 0 8140 23,139

Balance at 31 December 2014 156,938 187,591 244,030 711,602 1,300,161

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2013 112,008 395,053 37,149 42,367 586,577

Depreciation for the year 20,358 94,894 29,825 23,320 168,397

Disposal 0 (604) (12,955) 0 (13,559)

Balance at 31 December 2013 132,366 489,343 54,019 65,687 741,415

Balance at 1 January 2014 132,366 489,343 54,019 65,687 741,415

Depreciation for the year 16,640 62,376 30,502 47,157 156,675

Disposals (34,127) (396,295) 0 0 (430,422)

Balance at 31 December 2014 114,879 155,424 84,521 112,844 467,668

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2013 85,903 219,360 187,449 241,358 734,069

At 31 December 2013 67,214 131,054 190,010 637,775 1,026,054

At 1 January 2014 67,214 131,054 190,011 637,775 1,026,054

At 31 December 2014 42,059 32,167 159,509 598,758 832,493
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2014 2013
$ $

12.c
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating  
activities
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 825,707 746,307

Non cash flows in profit

Depreciation charge 156,675 168,397
Loss on disposal of assets 56,037 7,813
Profit on disposal of assets (2,558) 0

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/Decrease in trade & receivables (45,894) 94,932
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments (129,087) (78,543)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade & other payables 1,963,256 (632,477)
Increase/(Decrease) in unexpended grants 256,165 463,429
Increase/(Decrease) in employee benefits 103,809 1,970
Increase/(Decrease) in practice payments (549,682) (186,670)
Cash provided by operating activities 2,634,428 585,185

13.a Financial instruments
Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of the Company’s 
financial assets represents the maximum 
credit exposure. The Company’s maximum                                                               
exposure to credit risk at reporting date was:

Receivables 93,759 47,865
Cash and cash equivalents 8,284,551 5,834,308

8,378,310 5,882,173

13.b The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for 
trade and other receivables at the reporting date by 
geographic region was:

Australia 93,759 47,865
93,759 47,865
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Gross
Impair-
ment

Gross
Impair-
ment

2013 2013 2013 2013
13.c Financial instruments $ $ $ $

 
Impairment losses
The ageing of Company’s trade receivables at the 
reporting date was:

Not past due 0 0 25,630 0
Past due 0-30 days 77,589 0 1,470 0
Past due 31-120 days 2,890 0 412 0
Past due 120 days to one year 0 0 705 0
More than 1 year 0 0 0 0

80,479 0 28,217 0

No allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables as at 31 December 2013 and 2014.

14. Operating leases $ $
Less than 1 year 199,337 413,511
Between 1 & 5 years 175,477 73,210

374,814 486,721

15. Auditor remuneration
Audit services
Auditors of the Company
Other Services 0 0
Audit and review of financial statements 17,060 21,656

17,060 21,656

16. Contingent liability

The directors are of the opinion that provisions are not required in respect of these matters, as it is not 
probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required or the amount is not capable of reliable 
measurement.
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2014 2013
$ $

12.c
Reconciliation of cash flows from operating  
activities
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 825,707 746,307

Non cash flows in profit

Depreciation charge 156,675 168,397
Loss on disposal of assets 56,037 7,813
Profit on disposal of assets (2,558) 0

Changes in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/Decrease in trade & receivables (45,894) 94,932
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments (129,087) (78,543)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade & other payables 1,963,256 (632,477)
Increase/(Decrease) in unexpended grants 256,165 463,429
Increase/(Decrease) in employee benefits 103,809 1,970
Increase/(Decrease) in practice payments (549,682) (186,670)
Cash provided by operating activities 2,634,428 585,185

13.a Financial instruments
Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of the Company’s 
financial assets represents the maximum 
credit exposure. The Company’s maximum                                                               
exposure to credit risk at reporting date was:

Receivables 93,759 47,865
Cash and cash equivalents 8,284,551 5,834,308

8,378,310 5,882,173

13.b The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for 
trade and other receivables at the reporting date by 
geographic region was:

Australia 93,759 47,865
93,759 47,865
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17. Related party disclosure

A number of director’s hold positions in member entities that result in them having control or significant 
influence over the financial or operating policies of these entities. A number of these member entities 
transacted with the Company in the reporting period.

The terms and conditions of the transactions with the related parties were no more favourable than those 
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-related 
entities on an arm’s length basis.

Transaction value

2014 2013

$ $

Related parties Transaction

Australian College of 
Rural & Remote Medicine

Pre-Vocational Training 216,692 208,548

Australian College of 
Rural & Remote Medicine

Accreditation, CPD 39,310 15,728

Royal Australian College of 
General Practitioners

Accreditation, CPD 37,649 12,127

Charles Darwin University Service Level Agreement 41,353 41,353

Charles Darwin University Rent, Courses, Parking 144,746 152,172

Charles Darwin University Cultural Mentoring 0 19,940

Flinders University Rent 22,723 27,703

Flinders University Board Fees/Sponsorship 4,545 2,750

NT Medicare Local Cultural Education, MG workshops, 
student accommodation

720 7,310

NT Medicare Local Shared Services Agreement 17,000 17,000

NT Medicare Local Shared Presentation, CPD 38,547 25,059

Aboriginal Medical Services                           

Alliance Northern Territory Cultural Education, Teaching 
Allowances, Board Fees, Rents and 
Cultural Training

297,127 161,001

860,412 683,381

Compensation for key 
management

Short-term employee benefits 497,197 495,596

Post-employment benefits 60,045 74,570

Total compensation 557,242 570,166
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18. Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial liabilities 
due for payment

Trade and other 
payables (excluding 
estimated annual 
leave and deferred 
income

1,493,552 851,445 0 0 0 0 1,493,552 851,445

Finance lease 
liabilities (excluding 
future finance lease 
charges)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total expected 
outflows

1,493,552 851,445 0 0 0 0 1,493,552 851,445

Financial assets 
– cash flows 
realisable

Cash and cash 
equivalents

8,283,551 5,833,308 0 0 0 0 8,283,551 5,833,308

Trade, term and 
loans receivables

93,759 47,865 0 0 0 0 93,759 47,865

Other investments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total anticipated 
inflows

8,377,310 5,881,173 0 0 0 0 8,377,310 5,881,173

Net (outflow)/
inflow on financial 
instruments

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed

Fair value of financial instruments

Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.  The carrying amounts of 
trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short term nature.  The 
fair value of financial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at the current market 
interest rate that is available for similar financial instruments.

19. Sensitivity Analysis

The following table illustrates sensitivities to the Company’s exposure to changes in interest rates and equity prices. 
The table indicates the impact on how profit and equity values reported at the end of the reporting period would have 
been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that management considers to be reasonably possible. These 
sensitivities assume that the movement in a particular variable is independent of other variables.

Profit Equity

$ $

Year ended 31 December 2014

+/-2% in interest rates 165,671 165,671

Year ended 31 December 2013

+/-2% in interest rates 116,666 116,666

No sensitivity analysis has been performed on foreign exchange risk as the Company is not exposed to foreign 
currency fluctuations.
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17. Related party disclosure

A number of director’s hold positions in member entities that result in them having control or significant 
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transacted with the Company in the reporting period.

The terms and conditions of the transactions with the related parties were no more favourable than those 
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2014 2013
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Related parties Transaction

Australian College of 
Rural & Remote Medicine

Pre-Vocational Training 216,692 208,548

Australian College of 
Rural & Remote Medicine

Accreditation, CPD 39,310 15,728

Royal Australian College of 
General Practitioners

Accreditation, CPD 37,649 12,127

Charles Darwin University Service Level Agreement 41,353 41,353

Charles Darwin University Rent, Courses, Parking 144,746 152,172

Charles Darwin University Cultural Mentoring 0 19,940

Flinders University Rent 22,723 27,703

Flinders University Board Fees/Sponsorship 4,545 2,750

NT Medicare Local Cultural Education, MG workshops, 
student accommodation

720 7,310

NT Medicare Local Shared Services Agreement 17,000 17,000

NT Medicare Local Shared Presentation, CPD 38,547 25,059

Aboriginal Medical Services                           

Alliance Northern Territory Cultural Education, Teaching 
Allowances, Board Fees, Rents and 
Cultural Training

297,127 161,001

860,412 683,381

Compensation for key 
management

Short-term employee benefits 497,197 495,596

Post-employment benefits 60,045 74,570

Total compensation 557,242 570,166
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20. Economic Dependence

The Company is dependent on Commonwealth Government grant funding in order to operate.

21. Events after balance sheet date

No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2014 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affected the company’s operations, the results of those operations, or the company’s state of 
affairs in future financial years.

22. Commitments

Commitments Summary as at 31 December 2014

Expenditure Commitment

Initiate and Plan Phase 34,900.00 

 34,900.00 

Capital Commitment

Delivery and Completion Phase 188,816.00 

Licensing Fees  146,000.00 

334,816.00 

Total  369,716.00 

Commitments, as listed above, are committed as at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities. The 
commitments relate to unpaid portion of the contract between the Company and Obvious Choice in relation 
to development of myGPcommunity. All commitments are due within one year from the reporting date. The 
Company has no commitments as at 31 December 2013.

23. Going Concern

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates continuity of 
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of the business. 
However the current contract for the providing of vocational educational and training for general practice 
between the Commonwealth Government and Northern Territory General Practice Education Ltd will expire 
on 31 December 2015. The Commonwealth Government has indicated its intention to invite tenders for 
the provision of these services over the next three years contract spanning the period 2016 to 2018. The 
directors are confident that the company will be successful in winning this contract by virtue of the fact that 
the company is the only training provider in the Northern Territory. However the concept of the organisation 
continuing on, on a going concern basis needs to be considered in the light of the above developments.

24. Company Details

The registered office of the Company, and principal place of business is:

Level 3, Building 1, Yellow Precinct 
Charles Darwin University 
Ellengowan Drive 
Casuarina, NT, 0810.
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In the opinion of the Directors of Northern Territory General Practice Education Limited (the “Company”)

(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 10 to 30, are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including

 (i) giving true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2014   
 and its performance for the financial period ended on that date; and

   (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian  Accounting    
 Interpretations) and  the Corporations Act 2001; 

(b)  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors:

Dr Samuel Heard, Chairman

Dated at Darwin this 28th day of April 2015.

Directors’ declaration
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20. Economic Dependence

The Company is dependent on Commonwealth Government grant funding in order to operate.

21. Events after balance sheet date
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 34,900.00 

Capital Commitment

Delivery and Completion Phase 188,816.00 

Licensing Fees  146,000.00 

334,816.00 
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Commitments, as listed above, are committed as at reporting date but not recognised as liabilities. The 
commitments relate to unpaid portion of the contract between the Company and Obvious Choice in relation 
to development of myGPcommunity. All commitments are due within one year from the reporting date. The 
Company has no commitments as at 31 December 2013.
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These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which contemplates continuity of 
normal business activities and the realisation of assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of the business. 
However the current contract for the providing of vocational educational and training for general practice 
between the Commonwealth Government and Northern Territory General Practice Education Ltd will expire 
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the provision of these services over the next three years contract spanning the period 2016 to 2018. The 
directors are confident that the company will be successful in winning this contract by virtue of the fact that 
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